ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 2 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

JERRY LEE,

Petitioner,

v.

WELLS FARGO ARMORED SERVICES, and THE TRAVELERS,

CLAIM NO.:466-92-0758

D/A:

08/23/93

1DCA Case No: 96-03221

SUP. CT. Case No.: 90-455

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY
DIVISION "A-CENTRAL"
HONORABLE C. DOUGLAS BROWN

AND

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ARTHUR C. BEAL, JR., Esq. BEAL & SOTO P.O. Box 14509 1584 Metropolitan Blvd. Tallahassee, FL 32317-4509 Fla. Bar. No: 0304204

Attorney for Appellee

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ISSUE ON APPEAL
ARGUMENT:
THE CLAIMANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO PREJUDGEMENT INTEREST ON ATTORNEY'S FEES SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE QUALITY ENGINEERED INSTALLATION, INC. V. HIGLEY SOUTH, INC. DECISION MANDATES THAT INTEREST BE CALCULATED FROM THE DATE THAT ENTITLEMENT IS ESTABLISHED
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX "A" (ORDER ON APPEAL).
APPENDIX "B" (FIRST DISTRICT OPINION ON APPEAL).
APPENDIX "C" PETITIONERS INITIAL BRIEF ON DISKETTE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES
gonaut Ins. co. v. Mav Plumking Co., 474 so. 2d 212 (Fla. 1985). ,
<u>Crittenden Orange Blossom Fruit v. Stone</u> , 514 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1987)
<pre>Inacio v. State Farm Fire & Casualtv Co., 550 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 1 DCA 1989)</pre>
Jacksonville. Tampa & Kev West Rv.v. Peninsular Land
Transp. & Mfu. Co., 9 So. 661 (Fla. 1891)
Peavy v. Dyer, 605 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 5 DCA 1992)
Ouality Engineered Installation. Inc. v. Higley South. Iv., 670 So. 2d 929 (Fla. March 28, 1996)
<u>State Farm Fire & Casualty, Co. v. Palma,</u> 629 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1993)
<u>Stone V. Jeffres</u> , 208 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1968)
<u>Sullivan v. McMillan</u> , 19 So. 340 (Fla.1896)
Wells Faruo Armored Services v. Lee, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1106 (Fla. 1DCA April 28, 1997)
STATUTES
Fla. Stat. 440.34 (1993). ,
RULES
Fig. P. App. P. 9. $030(a)/(2)/(4)/(\pi)/(1996)$

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Appellee below, JERRY LEE, will be referred to in this brief by name or as the Claimant.

Respondents, Appellants, WELLS FARGO ARMORED SERVICES and THE TRAVELERS, will be referred to by name or collectively as $^{\rm the}$ Employer/Carrier or E/C.

The Judge of Compensation Claims shall be referred to by name or as the JCC.

All references to the record on appeal will be made by the use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS.

Mr. Lee injured his neck and back on 8/23/93 while working for Wells Fargo Armored Services. On April 17, 1995 a hearing was held to determine his entitlement to certain benefits which the Employer/Carrier had denied. (T:174) The JCC entered an Order June 13, 1995 awarding benefits to Mr. Lee and finding that he was entitled to have his attorney's fees and costs paid by the E/C. The JCC reserved jurisdiction to establish the amount of the fee at a later date should the parties fail to work out the matter on their own. (T:182)

An attorney's fee hearing was scheduled when the parties were unable to resolve the fee amount. In response to a motion to compel dated December 8, 1995, time records were mailed by claimant's counsel to the E/C's attorney on March 12, 1996.

The E/C made no attempt to tender payment of any fee amount to claimant's counsel either before or after receipt of the time records. An attorney's fee hearing took place on June 13, 1996. On July 26, 1996 the JCC entered an Order awarding a fee in the amount of \$26,825.00. The JCC also awarded interest from the date of entitlement (June 13, 1995) to the date of payment based upon Ouality Enaineered Installation, Inc. v. HialevSouth, Inc., 670 so. 2d 929 (Fla. 1996), but excluding interest from the time the E/C sought judicial assistance in obtaining time records (December 8, 1995) until the records were provided (March 14, 1996).

Finally, claimant was awarded reimbursement of costs in the amount of \$2,010.41. (T:145-6)

Without tendering any payment, the E/C filed a Motion For Rehearing and Motion to Vacate. When these motions were denied the E/C filed an appeal claiming that the fee awarded by the JCC was excessive and challenging the award of interest on the attorney's fees.

The First District Court of Appeal issued its decision April 28, 1997. The Court affirmed the JCC's ruling as to the amount of the award. However, the First District reversed the JCC's Order as it related to interest payable between the date of entitlement and the date of the attorney's fee order on amount.

In so reversing, the First District refused to apply the holding of <u>Ouality Engineered Installation</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>v</u>. <u>Hialev S.</u>, <u>Inc.</u> to this case because that decision did not expressly state that it applied to workers' compensation cases. The First District went on to note its uncertainty as whether <u>Ouality Engineæed Installation</u>, <u>Inc.</u> should apply to workers' compensation cases so they certified the following question as one of great public importance:

"Does the Court's decision in <u>Ouality Engineered</u> <u>Installation, Inc. v. Higley South, Inc.</u>, 670 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1996) extend to permit the accrual of prejudgment interest on attorney's fees, authorized pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Law, from the date entitlement to the fee is determined, when an amount for same has not yet been established?" <u>Wells Farao Armored Services v. Lee</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1106, D1107 (Fla. 1DCA April 28, 1997).

Claimant timely filed Notice of Appeal to this Court on April 30, 1997 seeking to invoke the Supreme Court's jurisdiction under Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v)(1996). This brief on the merits is being filed at the request of the Court pursuant to order dated May 6, 1997.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida Supreme Court's instruction in Ouality Engineered Installation, Inc., v. Higley South, Inc., 670 So. 2d 929 (Fla. March 28, 1996), is quite clear; interest on an award of attorney's fees accrues from the date entitlement is established, did not attempt to limit its ruling to any areas of law; nor did it exclude workers' compensation cases from its holding. A ruling requiring the E/C to transfer to claimant's counsel the interest accrued from the date of entitlement will serve as a deterrent to delay by the E/C, will place the burden of non-payment fairly upon the party whose obligation to pay attorneys' fees has been fixed and is consistent with the law that additional attorney's fees are not to be awarded for time spent litigating the amount of an attorney's fee. The public policy factors which influenced the court's decision in Quality Engineered Installation. Inc. apply with equal or greater force in workers' compensation cases so that the JCC's ruling below should be affirmed in its entirety.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. "Does the Court's decision in Quality Enaineered Installation, Inc. v. Higley South. Inc., 670 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1996) extend to permit the accrual of prejudgment interest on attorney's fees, authorized pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Law, from the date entitlement to the fee is determined, when an amount for same has not yet been established?"

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT THAT THE CLAIMANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO PREJUDGEMENT INTEREST ON ATTORNEY'S FEES SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE QUALITY ENGINEERED INSTALLATION, INC. V. HIGLEY SOUTH. INC. DECISION MANDATES THAT INTEREST BE CALCULATED FROM THE DATE THAT ENTITLEMENT IS ESTABLISHED.

The Florida Supreme Court recently held that interest on an attorney's fee award begins to accrue from the date that entitlement to the fee, "is fixed through agreement, arbitration award or court determination, even though the amount of the award has not yet been determined." Quality Enaineered Installation, Inc. Migley South, Inc., 670 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1996). The reason the court gave for the decision focused on the, "unfairness which results to a party entitled to payment of attorney fees when a party who owes the attorney's fee withholds payment." The Court expressly noted the unfairness of allowing the party which owes the fee to garner the interest-free use of the fee (once entitlement has been established) at the expense of the attorney who has earned, and is entitled to, the fee. Thus, according to the Court:

"... the burden of nonpayment is fairly placed on the party whose obligation to pay attorney fees has been fixed. Using the date of entitlement as the date of accrual serves as a deterrent to delay by the party who owes the attorney fees and is appropriate in conjunction with our decision that attorney fees are not to be assessed for litigating the amount of an attorney-fee award." Id. at 929.

Moreover, the court pointed out that, "The party who owes the

fee can be protected against delay in determining the amount of the fees and further accrual of interest through a tender of payment" because, "...interest ceases to accrue on amounts of attorneys fees up to the amount for which an actual tender of payment is made."

Id. at 929.

To better grasp the rationale of the Ouality Enaineered <u>Installation</u>. <u>Inc.</u> decision one needs to understand that Florida courts have long treated prejudgement interest as merely another element of pecuniary damages rather than a penalty. Araonaut Ins. Co. V. May Plumbing Co., 474 So. 2d 212, 214 (Fla. 1985); Sullivan v. McMillan, 19 So. 340 (Fla. 1896); Jacksonville, Tampa & Kev West Rv. v. Peninsular Land Transp. & Mfa. Co., 9 So. 661 (Fla. 1891); <u>Peavv v. Dver</u>, 605 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 5 DCA 1992). of the "penalty theory" (where interest is awarded to punish a wrongdoer), Florida Courts have accepted the, "loss theory" where the award of interest is automatic because of the loss. Interest is not a punishment for some wrongful act. Interest is a necessary element of the original award so that the awarded party might be made whole. Interest is automatic, and need not be specifically "Under the "loss theory" . . . neither the merit of the awarded. defense nor the certainty of the loss affects the award of prejudgment interest. Rather, the loss itself is a wrongful deprivation by the defendant of the plaintiff's property." Argonaut, 474 So. 2d at 214.

From the moment entitlement to an attorney's fee is established the party owing the fee has constructive possession of another's money regardless of the amount of the fee. Whether the amount of the fee is \$100.00 or \$25,000.00 the interest earned on that money does not belong to the party owing the fee. For the attorney entitled to the fee to be made whole, he or she must receive the fee with interest. The party owing the fee is not giving up anything but merely transferring the funds it has held in trust for another with the interest earned during the duration of the trust.

The general rule set forth in <u>Ouality Enuineered Installation</u>.

Inc. must apply to workers' compensation cases; otherwise an E/C would unfairly profit where an order establishing the amount of the fee is delayed. Although requiring the E/C to transfer prejudgement interest is not a penalty, to allow it to retain the interest earned between the date of entitlement and the date of the amount award would certainly penalize the claimant's attorney and would greatly raise the likelihood of routine delays. The E/C would have a financial disincentive for promptly resolving attorney's fee amount disputes and a financial incentive to regularly insist on hearings over attorney's fee amounts.

Under the "loss theory", the loss in a workers' compensation case occurs when benefits, including attorney fees, are obtained on a claimant's behalf. Keep in mind that the workers' compensation

system, "places primary responsibility for the Claimant's attorney's fees on the Claimant." Crittenden_Orange_Blossom_Fruit_v.__one, 514 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1987), 440.34(3), Fla. Stat. (1993). Therefore, when Claimant's counsel proves entitlement to a fee from the E/C in one of those, "limited instances in which the Claimant may recover attorney's fees," he ox she has secured a, "substantial benefit to the Claimant." Id. at 354; State Farm Fire & Casualty_Co. v. Palma, 629 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1993).

At the moment the claimant's counsel secures entitlement to a fee payable by the E/C, the Employer/Carrier begins holding that fee, regardless of amount, in constructive trust. Because the fee award is tied to the E/C's failure to provide needed benefits in a timely manner, the "loss" has occurred as of the date of entitlement.¹

^{&#}x27;Claimant did not appeal Judge Brown's denial of interest from December 8, 1995 to March 12, 1996 which was predicated on the delay in claimant's attorney's providing time records to the E/C and does not seek to do so at this time. However, the logic followed irQuality Engineered Installation, Inc. mandates that Judge Brown erred in this regard. Delays in assessing the amount of the fee (whether occasioned by the claimant's attorney, the E/C, the JCC's docket, or any combination of these) do not result in a penalty on the E/C: it simply results in the transfer of additional interest because of the additional interest earned by the E/C during the delay. For clarity of decision this Court may want to address the issue of whether the claimant's attorney can be penalized for delays in providing requested time records. The only way such a penalty would be logical would be if one assumed that the E/C did not routinely invest its money (a false assumption to be sure) so that not promptly finding out the number of claimant's hours caused it to not earn interest on some portion of that amount (which is totally illogical).

Of note is this Court's decision in <u>Stone v. Jeffres</u>, **208 So.** 2d 827 (Fla. 1968) because it dealt with post judgement interest on attorney's fees. In <u>Stone</u> the E/C argued that although the right to post judgement interest on attorney's fees was well established in other areas of law, it should not be permitted in workers' compensation cases. The same argument is now being raised by the E/C in this case with regard to prejudgement interest. It should be soundly rejected as it was by the <u>Stone</u> court where, drawing an analogy to cases involving contract disputes, the court stated:

"Analogously, it would seem that interest should run on attorneys' fees from the time they are awarded by deputies. We see little logic for making an exception and establishing a different rule as to allowance of interest on attorneys' fees awarded in compensation cases from the rule which authorizes interest on disability awards." Stone, 208 So. 2d at 829-30 (Fla. 1968).

Nearly 30 years later, there is little logic for making an exception and establishing a different rule for the award of prejudgement interest in a workers' compensation case. The E/C is not being punished by having to turn over interest it has collected on fees owed to claimant's attorney. In fact the statutory rate of interest due the claimant's attorney may well be exceeded by the actual interest earned by the E/C during the relevant period because of higher institutional rates of return.

In <u>Ouality Enaineered Installation</u>, <u>Inc.</u> this Court quoted with approval the First District's language in <u>Inacio v. State Farm</u>

Fire & Casualty Co., 550 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 1DCA 1989) stating:

"For us to rule to the contrary would be to penalize the prevailing party, Inacio, for State Farm's delay in paying the attorney's fees found due after their concession of liability upon settlement of the underlying claims; it would reward State Farm for continuing to contest Inacio's reimbursement of attorney's fees by allowing State Farm interest-free use of the money for more than a year. Such a result would be inconsistent with the intent and purpose of statutory provisions allowing attorney's fees to the prevailing party." Inacio, 550 So. 2d at 97-8, Quality Engineered Installation. Inc. 670 So. 2d at 929.

Judge Ervin pointed out in the First District's opinion on this matter **below** that the <u>Inacio</u> language relied upon in <u>Quality</u>

<u>Enuineered Installation. Inc.</u> is indistinguishable from the Supreme Court's language in <u>Stone</u>:

"We are impressed with the suggestion which was made in oral argument that unless such interest is allowed, temptation will be afforded to delay payment of attorneys' fees by resorting to appeals in situations which could work hardships upon persons ordinarily least able to be burdened by any delays in compensation cases." Stone v. Jeffres, 208 So. 2d 827, 830 (Fla. 1968), Wells Fargo Armored Services v. Lee, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1106, D1107 (Fla. 1DCA April 28, 1997).

Indeed, the rationale expressed in <u>Stone</u>, <u>Inacio</u> and <u>Quality</u>

<u>Engineered Installation</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, is the same, and mandates the transfer of <u>acrued</u> interest in workers' compensation cases just as it did in other cases. There is no sound issue for exception.

As pointed out in <u>Ouality Engineered Installation</u>. Inc., the E/C could have limited or avoided its liability to transfer interest by making a tender of payment. This tender could have been established through various means. For example, the E/C could have used the statutory formula for calculating fees as set forth

in Ch. 440.34, Fla. Stat. (1993). The E/C could have made tender based upon multiplying the customary hourly rate in the community by the hours expended in defense of the claim,

In this case the Employer/Carrier has enjoyed the benefits of these funds for nearly two years. interest The Employer/Carrier has earned on these funds for the past two years belongs to claimant's counsel. Otherwise the E/C will be unjustly The burden of non-payment of these funds is fairly placed upon the E/C whose obligation to pay attorneys' fees was fixed June 13, 1995. Only by requiring the E/C to forward the interest it has accrued from the date of entitlement will there be a deterrent to delay by the E/C. Such a decision will be consistent with this court's decision that attorneys fees are not to be assessed for litigating the amount of an attorney's fee Claimant is entitled to the fees, costs and interest due award. pursuant to Judge Brown's Orders of June 13, 1995 and July 26, 1996.

CONCLUSION

The First District Court of Appeal's decision dated April 28, 1997 should be reversed as to its denial of prejudgement interest and an order should be entered reinstating the JCC's Order.

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a copy of the foregoing has been furnished to: Mrs. Susan S. Foltz, Esquire, at P.O. Box 14129, Tallahassee, FL 32217, this 2nd day of June, 1997.

*ARTHUR C. BEAL, JR., Esq.

BEAL & SOTO
P.O. Box 14509
1584 Metropolitan Blvd.
Tallahassee, FL 32317-4509
Fla. Bar. No: 0304204

APPENDIX "A": Order on Appeal.

STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

OFFICE OF THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS

DISTRICT A-CENTRAL

Jerry Lee

Claimant

Claim No.:

466-92-0758

VS.

D/A:

8/23/93

Wells Fargo and Travelers

Employer/Carrier

ATTORNEY FOR CLAIMANT : Arthur C. Beal, Jr., Esq.

ATTORNEY FOR EMPLOYER/CARRIER: Susan Foltz, Esq.

ORDER

Pursuant to Notice the final attorneys fee hearing was held in Panama City June 13, 1996. The Verified Petition of claimant's attorney was admitted into evidence as claimant's exhibit #1. The E/C submitted a Letter Memorandum June 21, 1996 setting forth it's exceptions to the time records' submitted by claimant's attorney. The E/C does not dispute taxable costs of \$2,010.41. Claimant's exhibit #1 was inadvertently placed in the file of claimant's attorney. It was returned to the court on July 25, 1996.

- 1. An Order was entered by the underaigned June 13, 1995 awarding certain benefits to claimant, including a reasonable attorneys fee payable by the E/C. Jurisdiction was resented to determine the amount thereof at a supplemental hearing. The June 13, 1996 hearing was scheduled for that purpose.