# ORIGINAL

ę.

۰.

IN	THE SUPREME ( TALLAHASSE	COURT OF FLORIDA E, FLORIDA	FPLED SIE FWYDTE
JERRY LEE,	)		JUL 7 1997
Petitioner,		:	CLERAN EL UNIT
vs.	:	j 1 <sup>st</sup> DCA Case NO.: D/A:	96-03221 08/23/93
WELLS FARGO ARMORED and THE TRAVELERS,	SERVICES,	SUP. CT. CASE NC	
Respondents.	ý		

ON APPEAL FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DIVISION "A-CENTRAL" HONORABLE C. DOUGLAS BROWN

and

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF** 

GRANGER, SANTRY, MITCHELL & HEATH, P.A.

Susan Sapoznikoff Foltz FL Bar ID #0855987

Kimberly A. Johnson V FL Bar ID #0094536

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

2. Quality Engineered Installation, Inc. v. Higley South, Inc. is not applicable to worker's compensation in general.

The 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, which hears all workers' compensation appeals, has never awarded pre-judgment interest on attorney's fees in

10

Workers' compensation proceedings. <u>See Spaulding v. Albertson's,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 610 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1992); <u>Mirlisena v. Chem Lawn</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 597 So. 2d 877 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1992); <u>St. Regis Paper Co. v.</u> <u>Pellizzeri</u>, 394 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) and <u>Okaloosa</u> <u>County Gas Dist. v. Mandel</u>, 394 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1981).<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, like the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, this Court has never awarded prejudgment interest on attorney's fees in workers' compensation cases.

In Stone v. Jeffres, 208 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1968), this Court awarded post-judgment interest on attorney's fees even in the absence of specific language in the workers' compensation statute affording the same. See id. at p. 829-30. However, because section 55.03, Florida Statutes, allowed for post-judgment interest on judgments, and because an attorney's fee award is a judgment, this Court found post-judgment interest to be applicable to a workers' compensation fee award. See id. at p. In doing so, this Court determined that post-judgment 829. interest in workers' compensation cases would deter delay in payment by Employer/Carriers. See id. at 830. The workers' compensation statute is also void of specific language affording pre-judgment interest on attorney's fees. However, this Court has not offered another reason to award pre-judgment interest as it did with post-judgment interest in Stone v. Jeffres. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The 5th DCA, which was noted by this Court to award prejudgment interest on attorney's fees prior to <u>Higley</u>, denied prejudgment interest on a workers' compensation attorney's fee. <u>See</u> <u>Thompson v. HRS</u>, 618 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). In <u>Thompson</u>, the 5th DCA heard the case because the appeal stemmed from a rule nisi petition in circuit court.

Court has never awarded pre-judgment interest on workers' compensation attorney's fees even though the concept of awarding pre-judgment interest to remedy a loss has existed since before the turn of the century. <u>See Argonaut</u>, 474 So. 2d at 214; <u>See</u> <u>also Mander v. Concreform Co.</u>, 212 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 1968) (relying on <u>Stone v. Jeffres</u> to establish the date of the loss as the date the amount of the fee is determined). Therefore, this Court does not analyze workers' compensation cases by the same rules as it follows in civil cases, and the pre-judgment interest rule in <u>Higley</u> is one that does not apply to workers' compensation cases.

This Court's decision in <u>Higlev</u> addressed a conflict in decisions between District Courts of Appeal with regard to the application of pre-judgment interest on attorneys' fees. However, pre-judgment interest on attorney's fees under the "loss theory" had been the rule in the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA since the 1989 case of <u>Inacio v. State Farm</u>, 550 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, 1989). Thus, <u>Hislev</u> did not change the law in the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA. Nevertheless, after <u>Inacio</u>, the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA still awarded only post-judgment interest on attorney's fees in workers' compensation cases, while at the same time awarding pre-judgment interest on attorney's fees in civil cases, where appropriate.

In <u>Spaulding v. Albertson's, Inc.</u>, 610 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1993), the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA rejected application of pre-judgment interest to attorney's fees in workers' compensation cases and specifically held that <u>Inacio</u> is not applicable to workers'

compensation cases. In <u>Spaulding</u>, the claimant's attorney had requested pre-judgment interest on her attorney's fee, based on <u>Inacio</u>. <u>See Spaulding</u>, 610 So. 2d at 724. The 1<sup>st</sup> DCA stated that an award of pre-judgment interest is only made when the two prongs of <u>Argonaut</u> (pecuniary loss and fixed date) are met. <u>See</u> <u>id</u>. The 1<sup>st</sup> DCA held that <u>Argonaut</u> and <u>Inacio</u> are distinguishable from the workers' compensation setting and, thus, not controlling.

Even after <u>Hiqlev</u>, which reaffirmed <u>Inacio</u>, the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA did not find pre-judgment interest applicable to workers' compensation. In the initial opinion in <u>Metropolitan Dade Countv</u> <u>v. Rolle</u>, 21 FLW D1365 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, June 11, 1996), the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA noted that it was unclear whether <u>Higley</u> would apply to workers' compensation proceedings. <u>See Rolle</u>, 21 FLW at D1365 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, June 11, 1996). In rehearing <u>Metropolitan Dade County v</u>. <u>Rolle</u>, 678 so. 2d 904 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1996), however, the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA awarded only m-judgment interest, thus implicitly denying <u>Higley</u>'s application. <u>See Rolle</u>, 678 so. 2d at 906.

The following question was certified by the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA:

Does [<u>Higley</u>] extend to permit the accrual of prejudgment interest on attorney's fees, authorized pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Law, from the date entitlement to a fee is determined, when an amount for the same has not yet been established?

The question should be more appropriately phrased as whether the case of <u>Higlev mandates</u>, rather than permits, the accrual of prejudgment interest on attorney's fees. The question is whether a re-affirmance of the <u>Inacio</u> case by this Court in <u>Higlev</u> mandates

application of pre-judgment interest on attorney's fees in all venues, at all times. Employer/Carrier asserts it does not.

# B. There is a rational basis to distinuuish between workers' <u>compensation</u> and civil cases with regard to application of pre-iudgment interest on attorneys' fees.

This Court has previously distinguished between workers' compensation and civil cases on matters concerning attorneys' fees. In <u>Travieso v. Travieso</u>, 474 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1985), a civil case, this Court allowed expert witness fees for attorneys who testify as fee experts to be taxed against the other side. In so holding, this Court distinguished <u>Robert & Co. Assoc. v.</u> <u>Zabawczuk</u>, 200 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 1967), a workers' compensation case, which did not allow such fees to be taxed as costs. This Court has distinguished workers' compensation as a "simple, expeditious and inexpensive method of compensating employees who are injured in the workplace." <u>See Crittenden Orange Blossom</u> <u>Fruit v. Stone</u>, 514 So. 2d 351, 352 (Fla. 1987).

In <u>Crittenden</u>, this Court upheld <u>Zabawczuk's</u> principle that the award of attorney fees to the claimant's attorney is "collateral" to the purposes of the Workers' Compensation Act, despite changes that had been made to the fee statute. <u>See</u> <u>Crittenden</u>, 514 So. 2d at 352. The fee statute considered by this Court in <u>Crittenden</u> is the same fee statute that governs this case. Encompassing the fee statute is the workers' compensation act, which is the statutory basis for Florida's workers' compensation system; a hybrid of the concepts of tort

law and contract law. Because of its unique origin and purpose, the workers' compensation system requires considerations different than what is required in general civil litigation.

As stated previously, for a long time this Court has recognized that pre-judgment interest is only payable under the "loss theory". <u>See Argonaut Insurance Co. v. Mav Plumbing Co.</u>, 474 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1985). Under this theory, a losing party's failure to timely pay a sum of money results in the prevailing party losing the use of money to which that <u>partv</u> is rightfully entitled for a period of time between the judge making the award and the losing party paying the award. Pre-judgment interest is awarded to make the prevailing party whole and cover its loss.

In this case, the JCC awarded benefits to the Claimant and ordered the Employer/Carrier to pay attorney's fees and costs. The Claimant received his benefits which concluded litigation on that issue. However, jurisdiction was reserved to determine the amount of attorney's fees to be paid by the Employer/Carrier. An order determining the amount of the attorney's fee was issued more than a year after Claimant's benefits were awarded. During that year, the Claimant suffered no loss due to the passing of time. When the order pertaining to the attorney's fee was issued in this case, the Claimant had suffered no out-of-pocket, pecuniary losses. The Claimant received a sum of money to which he was entitled according to the settlement agreement between the Claimant and the Employer/Carrier. Because the Claimant's attorney is not a <u>party</u> to this action, and because the

claimant's attorney caused the delay, the reasoning behind the "loss theory" (to make the party whole) does not apply.

In addition to the preceding rationale for not applying prejudgment interest on attorney fees, there are public policy reasons for denying a broad rule mandating pre-judgment interest on attorneys' fees. Recognizing that an industry vital to the economic and social well-being of the entire State was in crisis, in 1993 the Florida Legislature significantly amended the workers' compensation statute, effective 1/1/94. As justification for such action, the Legislature noted:

[T]here is a financial crisis in the workers' compensation insurance industry, causing severe economic problems for Florida's business community and adversely impacting Florida's ability to attract new business development to the state, and

[0]ver the past several years, businesses have experienced dramatic increases in the cost of worker's compensation insurance coverage. . .and

[I]t is the sense of the Legislature that if the present crisis is not abated, many businesses will cease operating. . .and

Florida employers are currently paying the second highest overall rates for workers' compensation coverage in the country, and

[H]igh costs for workers' compensation coverage inhibit economic growth and restrict funds available to provide employment and raise workers' wages, and

[A]n overriding public purpose is the necessity to lower compensation rates while retaining the ability of employers to purchase compensation coverage, and

[T]he Legislature finds that there is an overpowering public necessity for reform of the current worker's compensation system in order to reduce the cost of workers' compensation insurance. . ., and

[T]he magnitude of these compelling economic problems demands immediate, dramatic, and comprehensive legislative action,. . .

<u>See</u> Preface to Second Engrossed SB 12C, which was enrolled. The cost of pre-judgment interest on attorneys' fees was never

considered by workers' compensation carriers or in the calculation of premiums as it had <u>never</u> been awarded and there was <u>nothing</u> in the workers' compensation statute requiring its payment.' There is no need to impose an additional, unnecessary burden on an already overburdened system.

Also, unlike the civil context, a prevailing attorney in worker's compensation is always guaranteed a fee paid by the other side. Fees in civil cases are assessed against a losing party only rarely. Thus, the effect of an award of pre-judgment interest to the civil community is much less than it would be in workers' compensation, and the far-reaching effects in workers' compensation or other arenas were not considered by this Court in deciding <u>Hiqley.<sup>5</sup></u>

For the reasons expressed above, <u>Higley</u> does not mandate the award of pre-judgment interest. In this extremely close decision (4 to 3), Justice Overton, noted, in writing for the dissent:

I find no justifiable or logical reason for the assessment of interest on the amount of attorney fees prior to the time the exact amount of those fees are set by a final judgment without, at a minimum, a showing of intentional delay by the adversarial counsel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Beal contends the absence of legislative mandate of prejudgment interest on attorneys' fees in workers' compensation is no obstacle to this Court based on <u>Stone v. Jeffres.</u> <u>See</u> Initial Brief, p. 10. However, as demonstrated in section A.2. of this brief, <u>Stone v. Jeffres</u> is distinguishable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>See Dept. of Transportation v. Brouwer's Flowers, Inc.</u> 600 So. 2d 1260 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) for the proposition that pre-judgment interest does not apply to eminent domain cases. <u>See also Dept.</u> <u>of Transportation v. Bailev,</u> 603 So. 2d 1384 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1992) which notes that under § 768.28(5), Florida Statutes (1985), the State is immune from liability for pre-judgment interest.

<u>Higley</u>, 670 So. 2d at 932. When considering workers' compensation, there is even less logic or reason to apply prejudgment interest to attorneys' fees.

# C. Even if pre-judgment interest on attorneys' fees is applicable to workers' compensation cases. no pre-judgment interest should apply in this case because any delay in payment of attorneys' fees was caused by the claimant's attorney.

Should this Court determine that pre-judgment interest applies in workers' compensation cases (or to all cases), Employer/Carrier asserts that in the present case, interest should not be awarded. Employer/Carrier repeatedly tried to obtain a fee demand and settle the attorney fee issue, but was The Claimant's ignored by the Claimant's attorney. (R. 185-188). attorney also violated the Rules of Civil Procedure and local rules by not complying with the Request to Produce, or furnishing his Verified Petition. The Claimant's attorney did not even comply with the JCC's order compelling him to provide the time records. On January 29, 1996, the JCC entered an Order compelling the Claimant's counsel to produce the time records within 15 days from the date of the hearing. (R. 82-83). However, in violation Of the JCC's Order, the Verified Petition and the records were not furnished by Claimant's attorney until March 12, 1996. (R. 89).

Accordingly, the Claimant's attorney, not the Employer/Carrier delayed payment of the attorney's fees. The JCC even acknowledged the Claimant's attorney's delay. (R. 145).

However, the reduction in interest awarded by the JCC is insufficient. Awarding pre-judgment interest in the present case is akin to awarding a bonus to a party for causing an intentional delay in litigating and awarding compensation for the violation of an Order of the JCC. Such a precedent should not be set by this Court.

Although this Court has ruled that pre-judgment interest on attorneys' fees can be applicable under the "loss theory", it has also recognized that no hard and fast rule exists pertaining to pre-judgment interest. In Broward County v. Finlavson, 555 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that interest is given in response to considerations of fairness, and denied when it's exaction would be inequitable. In Finlavson, Broward County emergency medical technicians were awarded back pay at an overtime wage rate for 16 hours per week for the past 14 🛓 months. The lower court also awarded pre-judgment interest commencing at the time the wages accrued. Although these wages began accruing in the Fall of 1979, Broward County was not made aware of the emergency medical technicians' claim to entitlement of overtime until the middle of 1980. Therefore, this Court held that it would be inequitable to allow the emergency medical technicians to recover pre-judgment interest prior to the time of their first claim for overtime pay.

Fairness and equity require this Court to affirm the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA's decision to deny pre-judgment interest. Awarding prejudgment interest on attorneys' fees would frustrate equity in

this case because such an award would not serve to make the Claimant whole and the delay was caused by the Claimant's attorney. Wherefore, Employer/Carrier asserts no pre-judgment interest should be applied due to Claimant's attorney's delay.

Despite acknowledging that pre-judgment interest is not to be awarded as a penalty, the Claimant's attorney seems to be seeking just that. Mr. Beal argues that pre-judgment interest should be awarded even where the Claimant's attorney causes the delay, as was the case here. <u>See</u> Initial Brief, p. 9, footnote 1. Such a solution would allow the Claimant's attorney to profit from his misdeeds, violating the doctrine of "clean hands". Claimant's attorney also argues that employer/carriers are not penalized if a claimant's attorney delays the fee hearing because the Employer/Carrier is routinely investing its money. This statement, more than any other, points to the greed and avarice underlying Claimant's attorney's request for pre-judgment interest on his attorney's fees.

For the Claimant's position to have any logical or reasonable basis, there needs to be some proof that employer/carriers routinely obtain over a 12% return on their money, as 12% is the statutory rate of interest. Employer/Carrier does not believe this Court should consider that argument here. First, it was not raised by Claimant's attorney before the 1<sup>st</sup> DCA. Second, the doctrine of "clean hands" should prevent it from being heard at all. Nevertheless, Employer/Carrier would venture that many insurance companies do not routinely receive a

return on their money greater than 12% due to the fiduciary obligations and the conservative investment policies that must be followed.

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